# **Grand Valley State University**

# ScholarWorks@GVSU

**Culminating Experience Projects** 

**Graduate Research and Creative Practice** 

12-5-2023

# Chronic Absenteeism: Exploring Causes, Impacts, and Interventions in Education

Arlee M. Hoag Grand Valley State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/gradprojects

#### ScholarWorks Citation

Hoag, Arlee M., "Chronic Absenteeism: Exploring Causes, Impacts, and Interventions in Education" (2023). *Culminating Experience Projects*. 406.

https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/gradprojects/406

This Project is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Research and Creative Practice at ScholarWorks@GVSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Culminating Experience Projects by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@GVSU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gvsu.edu.

Chronic Absenteeism: Exploring Causes, Impacts, and Interventions in Education by Arlee Hoag December 5, 2023, 2023

Master's Project
Submitted to the College of Education
At Grand Valley State University
In partial fulfillment of the
Degree of Master of Education



The signature of the individual below indicates that the individual has read and approved the project of Arlee Maree Hoag in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Masters in School Counseling.

Date	Date
Richard Vandermolen, Graduate Program Direct Head	tor Catherine L. Meyer-Looze, Unit
Rick Vandermolen	Catherine L. Meyer-Looze
1 11	Accepted and approved on behalf of the Educational Leadership and Counseling Unit
Catherine L. Meyer-Looze, Proje	ct Advisor Date
Catherine L. Meyer-Looze	
Wasters in School Counseling.	

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my professors for their unwavering support, guidance, and invaluable expertise throughout the process of writing this paper. Their insightful feedback and encouragement have been instrumental in helping me make it this far. I am thankful to my family for their patience, understanding, and constant encouragement during the challenging phases of this endeavor. Their support has been a source of strength and motivation.

Additionally, I extend my appreciation to the faculty members and peers whose input and discussions have contributed significantly to the refinement of this work.

Arlee Hoag

#### **Abstract**

Chronic absenteeism among students presents a significant challenge within the educational landscape, impacting academic performance and contributing to educational disparities. This research delves into the multifaceted issue of chronic absenteeism, aiming to identify its root causes, implications, and potential interventions. The study examines diverse factors influencing student attendance, including socioeconomic barriers, health conditions, transportation challenges, and their subsequent impact on academic achievement. Moreover, it explores the inequities prevalent in absenteeism, aiming to shed light on disparities among student populations.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgments i
Abstract
Table of Contentsiii
Chapter One: Introduction
Problem Statement
Importance and Rationale of Project
Background of the Project
Statement of Purpose
Objectives of the Project4
Definition of Terms5
Scope of Project5
Chapter Two: Literature Review
Introduction6
Causes and Consequences of Truancy
The Impact of Truancy on Academic and Life Outcomes9
The Role of Parents, teachers and policy in Addressing Truancy9
Conclusion

# Chapter Three: Project Description

Introduction	11
Project Components	12
Project Evaluation	13
Project Conclusions	13
Plans for Implementation	14
References	15

# **Chapter One: Introduction**

#### **Problem Statement**

Chronic absences amongst students are a major concern. Days missed in instruction has a negative impact on a student's grades and can put them at an academic disadvantage compared to their peers. Although missing school impacts all students negatively, issues with transportation, childcare, health conditions and other socioeconomic issues can be difficult to manage and are very real antecedents to absenteeism. Those circumstances make issues with attendance even more complicated.

## **Importance and Rationale of Project**

Addressing chronic absenteeism is crucial for ensuring that all students have an equal chance at academic success, promoting societal well-being, and breaking the cycle of educational disparities. It's an essential step toward fostering a more inclusive, equitable, and prosperous society. Attendance is directly connected to academic success. When students miss school regularly, they not only miss out on crucial instruction but also lack the opportunity to engage in discussions, group activities, and hands-on learning experiences. Chronically absent students may face barriers such as limited access to transportation, health issues, socioeconomic challenges, or unstable home environments, hindering their ability to attend school regularly. High rates of absenteeism correlate with lower graduation rates and reduced opportunities for higher education.

Students who consistently miss school are at a higher risk of dropping out, which can limit their career prospects and perpetuate cycles of poverty. This is a wide spread issue affecting students across grade levels, geographical locations and socioeconomic backgrounds. Chronic absenteeism impacts not only individual students but also the wider community. High dropout rates and lower educational attainment can lead to a less educated workforce, affecting community development and overall well-being. Failure to address chronic absenteeism perpetuates educational disparities, diminishes students' opportunities, and negatively impacts their long-term success and contributions to society.

## **Background of the Project**

Chronic absenteeism in education has been a persistent issue with a history deeply rooted in various social, economic, and educational factors. Over time, the definition and understanding of absenteeism have evolved. Historically, absenteeism was primarily seen as a behavioral issue, attributed to individual students lack of motivation or commitment to education. However, as research progressed, it became evident that chronic absenteeism is a multifaceted problem influenced by broader societal and systemic challenges. Socioeconomic disparities, inadequate access to resources, family circumstances, health issues and community factors have all contributed significantly to this issue.

The journey to our present situation with chronic absenteeism involves an evolving understanding of its complexities. It is no longer solely perceived as ab

individual student's problem but recognized as a symptom of larger societal inequalities affecting student's ability to access and engage in education.

Over time, educational institutions, policy makers and researchers have started acknowledging chronic absenteeism as a critical concern that requires a comprehensive approach. Efforts have been made to address the root cause of absenteeism, focusing on creating supportive environments, implementing targeted interventions and fostering collaboration between schools, families and the community. Despite these efforts chronic absenteeism remains a challenge, demanding ongoing exploration and innovative strategies to ensure every student has equal opportunities to engage in learning and achieve academic success.

#### **Statement of Purpose**

Researching chronic absenteeism helps uncover the root causes behind this prevalent issue. It allows for a deeper understanding of the various factors contributing to students' prolonged absence from school. Knowing the root cause can help identify the type of interventions needed. This project reviews literature on the subject of absenteeism with the intent of shedding more light on the issue and the long-term impact it has on our students as well as our communities. This paper reviews a collection of resources on the topic but the issue itself it is not unique to certain areas. Chronic absenteeism is an issue that schools everywhere are facing. This paper uses references from 25 different sources but the availability of research on the topic was vast.

## **Objectives of the Project**

This paper aims to contribute to addressing chronic absenteeism by providing a comprehensive analysis of the issue it's causes, consequences, and potential interventions. It aspires to achieve several key objectives. First it is important to understand the root causes of absenteeism. This will be accomplished by delving into various factors that contribute to students missing school (socioeconomic, familial, health related and systemic reasons). Then it discusses the impact and consequences students might face from regularly missing school. It will review how chronic absenteeism impacts a student's academic performance, social and emotional well-being and long-term outcomes.

Ultimately, by combining existing knowledge, identifying gaps and proposing actionable recommendations this paper intends to provide a roadmap for stakeholders to develop comprehensive, effective and sustainable solutions to tackle chronic absenteeism in education.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Chronic Absenteeism: In this text, refers to students who miss at least 15 days of school a year.

Socioeconomic: Relating to or concerned with the interaction of social and economic factors.

Truancy: The action of staying away from school without good reason; absenteeism.

Pandemic: A widespread occurrence of an infectious disease over a whole country or the world at a particular time.

Systemic: relating to a system, especially as opposed to a particular part

# **Scope of the Project**

The scope of this paper encompasses an extensive examination of chronic absenteeism in the United States' education system. It investigates the prevalence, causes, consequences, and interventions related to students missing significant amounts of school. The paper synthesizes various research studies, policy considerations, and strategies aimed at addressing this issue. It explores the impact of chronic absenteeism on academic performance, delinquency, and family dynamics while emphasizing the role of parental involvement and teacher effectiveness. The paper also touches on the historical context, significance, and challenges associated with chronic absenteeism, aiming to propose holistic approaches to mitigate this persistent problem.

This paper does not delve into highly specific localized interventions or explore the nuanced cultural, regional, or demographic variations in chronic absenteeism extensively. It does not offer immediate, singular solutions applicable to all contexts due to the complexity and diversity of reasons contributing to absenteeism. Moreover, it may not deeply address the psychological aspects or individual experiences of students facing chronic absenteeism, as this often requires more in-depth qualitative research or case studies. The paper also does not cover legislative intricacies or provide policy recommendations at the regional or national level.

#### **Chapter Two: Literature Review**

Truancy is a persistent issue in the United States' education system, with implications for both students and the broader community. This review examines recent research on truancy, its underlying causes, its impact on academic performance and delinquency, and strategies for prevention and intervention. Additionally, the review explores the crucial role of parent involvement in addressing truancy and improving overall educational outcomes, parents and guardians will play a big role in implementing changes that impact attendance. Truancy and chronic absenteeism persist as significant challenges in American education, affecting students across all grade levels, including elementary school children. This literature review builds upon the previous discussion and incorporates additional research findings and policy considerations to provide a comprehensive overview of these issues and their implications for educational success and family well-being. Several studies have shed light on the prevalence of truancy among American students. The study by Skubick (2023) highlights the alarming rates of truancy in Michigan, where over 500,000 students were identified as chronically absent during the last school year. This trend is not unique to Michigan, as other populous states also grapple with high truancy rates (Skubick, 2023). Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated truancy issues, with a significant proportion of students still missing classes as they return to in-person learning (The Economist, 2023).

#### **Causes and Consequences of Truancy**

Understanding the causes and consequences of truancy is critical for effective intervention. The study by Gerth (2022) utilizes Situational Action Theory to explore

the truancy-delinquency relationship. Contrary to common assumptions, Gerth's findings suggest that truancy itself does not directly cause delinquent behavior.

Instead, it is associated with changes in adolescents' crime propensity and exposure to criminogenic environments (Gerth, 2022). This nuanced perspective challenges traditional notions of truancy as a primary driver of delinquency.

Conry and Richards (2018) investigated the severity of truancy policies across U.S. states and their relationship to chronic absenteeism rates. Surprisingly, they found no evidence that states with more severe truancy policies have lower rates of chronic absenteeism (Conry & Richards, 2018). This raises questions about the effectiveness of punitive measures in addressing truancy and emphasizes the need for more comprehensive strategies. The goal should be to intervene before students reach disciplinary actions due to truancy. By this time, they have already been chronically absent missing countless hours of instructional time.

The research by Skubick (2023) underscores the gravity of truancy in Michigan, where an alarming 39% truancy rate among students has been reported. Similarly, other populous states like New York, Florida, California, Illinois, and Ohio have encountered significant truancy issues, with rates ranging from 30% to 33% (The Economist, 2023). These findings emphasize the nationwide scope of truancy concerns.

Compulsory school attendance policies, as outlined by the State of Michigan (n.d.), require children between the ages of six and sixteen to attend school. However, the enforcement of these policies varies across districts, and some students may face

barriers that lead to chronic absenteeism. The study by Conry and Richards (2018) reveals that the severity of truancy policies differs significantly across United States. With no clear evidence that states with stricter policies have lower rates of chronic absenteeism.

## The Impact of Truancy on Academic and Life Outcomes

The consequences of truancy and chronic absenteeism extend beyond the immediate issue of missed classes. Chronic absenteeism is associated with lower academic performance, increased risk of dropout, and potential engagement in delinquent behaviors (Barthelemy et al., 2022; Conry & Richards, 2018). Barthelemy et al. (2022) found that child behavioral problems, educational issues, and parental practices are key risk factors for truancy. However, gender differences in truancy risk factors and service needs appear to be negligible (Barthelemy et al., 2022).

The study by Gerth (2022) challenges conventional wisdom by suggesting that truancy itself may not directly cause delinquent behavior. Instead, it highlights that the relationship between truancy and delinquency depends on factors like adolescents' propensity for delinquency and their exposure to criminogenic settings. This nuanced perspective underscores the importance of addressing the underlying causes of truancy.

#### The Role of Parents, teachers and policy in Addressing Truancy

Parent involvement in schools is a crucial factor in mitigating truancy and improving educational outcomes. Epstein and Dauber (1991) emphasize the

significance of school and family connections in enhancing student success. Their study identifies five major types of parent involvement integral to comprehensive school programs, including involvement in learning activities at home and decisionmaking processes (Epstein & Dauber, 1991). The research underscores that teachers' attitudes and practices are pivotal in facilitating parent involvement, regardless of the parents' educational or socioeconomic backgrounds. Michigan's policy of revoking cash benefits from low-income families when their children are chronically absent has raised concerns about its effectiveness and the unintended consequences it may have on family well-being (Levin, 2023). Critics argue that such punitive measures do not consider the complex challenges faced by these families, including poverty, health issues, and a lack of support systems. Instead, experts suggest that addressing the root causes of absenteeism, such as transportation barriers and medical problems, may yield more positive outcomes. Teacher effectiveness plays a pivotal role in influencing student attendance and reducing unexcused absences (Liu & Loeb, 2021). Liu and Loeb (2021) found substantial variation among teachers in their effectiveness at reducing unexcused class absences, which can have a significant impact on students' likelihood of completing high school and pursuing higher academic goals. Effective teachers can motivate students to attend school regularly and actively engage in learning.

#### Conclusion

Truancy remains a pressing issue in American education, exacerbated by the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. Research suggests that the relationship

between truancy and delinquency is more complex than previously thought, and punitive measures may not be the most effective solution. Instead, addressing the root causes of truancy and fostering parent involvement are essential strategies for prevention and intervention.

Further research is needed to explore innovative approaches that can help reduce truancy rates and support the educational success of all students, especially those in underserved communities. School attendance issues impact schools, students, families and the community. This literature review has highlighted the complicated nature of attendance issues including what can influence absenteeism, the consequences as well as possible interventions to improve attendance. Further research is needed to continue exploring attendance interventions which will help us understand the barriers students face. Overcoming these barriers should help improve attendance and promote a better education for all students.

Truancy and chronic absenteeism remain critical issues in American education, affecting students across the country. While some states have implemented stringent truancy policies, the evidence regarding their effectiveness in reducing chronic absenteeism is inconclusive. The impact of teacher effectiveness on attendance underscores the importance of recognizing educators as key agents of change. Moreover, punitive measures, such as benefit revocation, have been critiqued for potentially worsening the situation for vulnerable families.

To address these challenges effectively, it is crucial to adopt a holistic approach that considers the diverse factors contributing to truancy and absenteeism.

This includes addressing the root causes of absenteeism, providing support to families facing complex issues, and recognizing the role of teachers in motivating and engaging students. Future research and policy efforts should prioritize comprehensive strategies aimed at improving student attendance and, ultimately, enhancing educational outcomes and well-being for all students, regardless of their socioeconomic backgrounds or individual circumstances.

# **Chapter Three: Project Description**

#### Introduction

Chronic absenteeism is an issue that impacts students all across the United States. This issue poses a substantial obstacle to academic progress, leading to lower grades and educational disadvantages compared to their peers. The identified objectives aimed at addressing this issue include implementing strategies to mitigate transportation, childcare, health, and socioeconomic challenges faced by students. The goal is to bolster attendance rates and subsequently improve academic outcomes for all students, ensuring they have equitable access to education. In this chapter I will discuss the components of my project, how I evaluated the projects effectiveness, the conclusions I have drawn after completing this project as well as how this information can be used by others to positively impact the issue of chronic absenteeism.

## **Project Components**

To address the issue of chronic absenteeism I believe developing a workshop for parents and guardians would have a positive impact. The research shows that there are multiple factors that can impact a student's ability to attend school. Bringing parents and guardians together so we can educate them on the importance of school as well as helping them overcome some of the barriers they might face would address chronic absenteeism at its root causes. Our school counseling department will send an invite to the families of any student who is considered chronically absent letting them

know about an opportunity to get involved and learn more about their student's success. The invitations will ask families to RSVP so that we are aware of how many people we will have show up. Once parents arrive we will discuss the importance of making it to school and how missing instruction time can have a negative impact on students' academic success.

We will talk about how missing school puts them at a disadvantage compared to their peers who have not missed the time. At the end of our first workshop we will ask parents to fill out a survey that will help us understand what barriers they might face when it comes to getting their students to school. The survey will also have a spot they can tell us what types of resources they would like help with. They will also get the opportunity to let us know what they would like to cover in these workshops moving forward. In preparation for our next meeting we will gather resources and create content that will address some of the other reasons parents see as an obstacle.

Workshop frequency will also be determined by feedback given on the survey.

We will hold the workshop every two weeks or once a month depending on feedback
we collect from the survey we have parents complete.

# **Project Evaluation**

To determine the effectiveness of this workshop we will take parent involvement into consideration. If we continue to have parents show up and engage then we will know the workshops are valued. We will also compare attendance data from before the workshops started to data collected at the end of the school year. In

theory, if parents are making use of resources we provide them the number of student absences should decrease.

#### **Project Conclusion**

I think creating an intervention to improve chronic absenteeism is more than a one-person job. In order for this to be successful I need buy in from the student, parent as well as the community. Some students miss school because they just don't want to be there. In those situations, parent involvement is key. If the parent is allowing the student to stay home they are enabling the issue. Other families face socioeconomic challenges that make it difficult to make it to school. Those students don't have a lot of control in their attendance, this is where we need to come together as a community and help provide resources for families that help them overcome these challenges. Attendance is very complex issue that requires a more one on one approach. This workshop would be a great way to get parents involved and connect them with community resources they may be struggling to find on their own. This will be an ongoing project but it will help us address chronic absenteeism at it's root causes which will, in time, implement change.

## **Plans for Implementation**

When a student has issues with truancy typically we can look back and see that this problem has followed them through the years. My suggestion would be to start really implementing interventions as early as we can. The workshop we are planning for our students in the high school where I work could be offered at the middle school or elementary level as well. If we offer the workshops as a district

instead of just specifically at the high school, we can reach more students. Determining resources for families that can help with things like transportation, childcare and even mental healthcare is a great way to start closing some of the gaps associated with chronic absenteeism. The research shows that disciplinary actions because of truancy don't typically have a positive impact on students, so how can we fix this problem? We have to work as a team alongside students, parents and the different places willing to help within our communities. It takes a village and if we all work together we can show our students the value of an education while teaching them the importance of working together. To start we will present this idea to our administrators and get their thoughts on presenting it to the whole school at our monthly school improvement meeting. Implementation of this program will start locally in our building, once we get the okay from our administration to move forward. Once we have data showing that the workshops are beneficial, we can bring it in front of the board. This will help us get it into the middle school and elementary schools.

#### References

- Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Horsey, C. S. (1997). From First Grade Forward: Early Foundations of High School Dropout. *Sociology of Education*, 70(2), 87–107. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/2673158">https://doi.org/10.2307/2673158</a>
- Balfanz, R., & Byrnes, V. (2012). The Importance of Being in School: A Report on Absenteeism in the Nation's Public Schools. *Education Digest*, 78(2), 4–9.
- Barthelemy, J., Coakley, T. M., Washington, T., Joseph, A., & Eugene, D. R. (2022). Examination of risky truancy behaviors and gender differences among elementary school children. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 32(4), 450–465. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2021.1914265">https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2021.1914265</a>
- Compulsory school attendance attendance policies ... state of Michigan. (n.d.). https://www.michigan.gov//media/Project/Websites/mde/2016/09/22/compulsory\_attendance.pdf?rev=a0
  56df25963d44aab3772c157f4dd100
- Conry, J. M., & Richards, M. P. (2018). The Severity of State Truancy Policies and Chronic Absenteeism. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 23(1–2), 187–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2018.1439752
- Epstein, J. L., & Dauber, S. L. (1991). School programs and teacher practices of parent involvement in inner-city elementary and middle.. *Elementary School Journal*, 91(3), 289. https://doi.org/10.1086/461656
- Epstein, J. L., & Sheldon, S. B. (2002). Present and Accounted for: Improving Student Attendance Through Family and Community Involvement. *Journal of Educational Research*, *95*(5), 308–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220670209596604
- Gakh, M., Coughenour, C., Assoumou, B. O., & Vanderstelt, M. (2020). The Relationship between School Absenteeism and Substance Use: An Integrative Literature Review. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 55(3), 491–502.

- Gerth, M. (2022). Does Truancy Make the Delinquent? A Situational and Longitudinal Analysis of the Truancy-Delinquency Relationship. *European Journal of Criminology*, 19(5), 1205–1224.
- Gubbels, J., van der Put, C. E., & Assink, M. (2019). Risk Factors for School Absenteeism and Dropout: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence: A Multidisciplinary Research Publication*, 48(9), 1637–1667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01072-5
- Henry, K. L., Knight, K. E., & Thornberry, T. P. (2012). School Disengagement as a Predictor of Dropout, Delinquency, and Problem Substance Use During Adolescence and Early Adulthood. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence: A Multidisciplinary Research Publication*, 41(2), 156–166. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-011-9665-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-011-9665-3</a>
- Henry, K. L., & Huizinga, D. H. (2007). School-related Risk and Protective Factors Associated with Truancy among Urban Youth Placed at Risk. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 28(6), 505–519. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-007-0115-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-007-0115-7</a>
- Hornby, G., & Lafaele, R. (2011). Barriers to parental involvement in education: an explanatory model. *Educational Review*, *63*(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2010.488049
- Jeynes, W. (2012). A Meta-Analysis of the Efficacy of Different Types of Parental Involvement Programs for Urban Students. *Urban Education*, 47(4), 706–742. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085912445643">https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085912445643</a>
- Kearney, C., & Graczyk, P. (2014). A Response to Intervention Model to Promote School Attendance and Decrease School Absenteeism. Child & Youth Care Forum, 43(1), 1–25. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-013-9222-1">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-013-9222-1</a>
- Kearney, C. A. (2008). School absenteeism and school refusal behavior in youth: a contemporary review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(3), 451–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2007.07.012
- Lehr, C. A., Johnson, D. R., Bremer, C. D., Cosio, A., & Thompson, M. (2004). *Increasing Rates of School Completion: Moving from Policy and*

- Research to Practice. A Manual for Policymakers, Administrators, and Educators. Essential Tools. National Center on Secondary Education and Transition, University of Minnesota (NCSET).
- Levin, K. (2023, May 24). How Michigan punishes its poorest families for their students' low attendance. Chalkbeat Detroit. https://detroit.chalkbeat.org/2023/5/24/23735005/student-attendance-michigan-schools-chronic-absenteeism-tanf-family-benefits#:~:text=Students%20who%20are%20considered%20chronically,stru ggle%20academically%20and%20drop%20out.
- Liu, J., & Loeb, S. (2021). Engaging Teachers: Measuring the Impact of Teachers on Student Attendance in Secondary School. *Journal of Human Resources*, *56*(2), 343–379. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.56.2.1216-8430r3

Post-covid, American children are still missing far too much school. (2023, August 24). *The Economist*.

- Reyes, M. R., Brackett, M. A., Rivers, S. E., White, M., & Salovey, P. (2012). Classroom Emotional Climate, Student Engagement, and Academic Achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*(3), 700–712. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027268">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027268</a>
- Rumberger, R. W. (1995). Dropping out of Middle School: A Multilevel Analysis of Students and Schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, *32*(3), 583–625.
- Sheldon, S. B. (2003). Linking School–Family–Community Partnerships in Urban Elementary Schools to Student Achievement on State Tests. *The Urban Review: Issues and Ideas in Public Education*, *35*(2), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1023713829693
- Skubick, T. (2023, September 12). *Michigan ranks high in new report on school children truancy*. WLNS 6 News. https://www.wlns.com/news/michigan-ranks-high-in-new-report-on-school-children-truancy/